IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LORENZO GOLPHIN,)	
)	
Petitioner,)	
)	CASE No.: SC03-554
VS.)	Lower Tribunal No. 5D 02-1848
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Respondent.)	
)

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NOEL A. PELELLA ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0396664 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was arrested by Daytona Beach police officers in November of 2001, and was charged with the unlawful possession of cocaine, and the possession of drug paraphernalia.¹ The warrantless search which revealed the aforesaid contraband occurred during a "field interview" which began when three police officers approached the Petitioner and two other men on a public street, and questioned the men as to their identity, and their reason for being in the area. (R 4-8,23-26,102-104) The Petitioner filed a motion to suppress the evidence obtained

¹ In this brief, the symbol "R" will be used to designate references to the record on appeal.

as a result of the search, and hearings on the motion were conducted on April 30, and May 31, of 2002. (R 1,3,114,115) The trial court denied the motion to suppress, based upon a finding that the officers, when they first approached the Petitioner, had not made a show of authority sufficient to constitute a seizure of the Petitioner's person. (R 96-100,135,143) On June 5, 2002, the Petitioner plead no contest to both of the aforesaid charges, reserving the right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress. (R 144) He was sentenced to fifteen months of imprisonment for cocaine possession. For the paraphernalia possession conviction, he was sentenced to a term of incarceration equivalent to the time served awaiting disposition of this case. (R 149)

The Petitioner's direct appeal was heard in the Fifth District Court, and the trial court ruling was affirmed by the district court on March 7, 2003.² In its' decision, the district court certified conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court, in *Baez v. State, 814 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)*. The Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court, and on September 3, 2003, this Court ordered that a ruling on jurisdiction in this case was deferred, pending this Court's disposition in *State v. Baez, Case No. SC02-1173*.

² A copy of the opinion is attached as in the Appendix to this brief.

On November 10, 2004, this Court issued its' Opinion in the *Baez* case. On November 5, 2004, the Court issued an Order accepting jurisdiction in this case, and dispensing with oral argument. The instant brief on the merits follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The events at issue occurred at approximately 11:00 p.m., on the evening of November 13, 2001. At that place and time, three Daytona Beach police officers, in uniform, and in marked patrol cars, confronted the Petitioner and the group of men he was with, in order to conduct a "field interview." (R 4-6,23-25,60) The Petitioner turned over his Florida ID card upon the officers' request, and a check by radio revealed an open warrant. (R 45,58-60) The Petitioner was then arrested and searched. The defense moved to suppress the contraband seized as a result of the warrantless search, and the motion came before the trial court on April 30, 2002, and on May 13, 2002. (R 3,10-14,49,50,75,76,114, 115) Evidence adduced at that hearing was as follows:

Officers Deschamps and Doemer were patrolling Ridgewood Avenue, and noticed a group of about five men on the sidewalk in front of an apartment building. Because the area was known for drug and prostitution activities, the officers

3

stopped their car, got out, and approached the men³ to find out "what they were up to." (R 4,5,24,25) One or two men walked away and the rest remained, including the Petitioner.⁴ When the officers first approached the Petitioner, they had no particularized suspicion that the Petitioner was involved in criminal activity, nor any particularized suspicion that he was armed. (R 17-20,22,39,40, 95) The men were immediately asked whether they lived in the apartment house, and what they were doing in the area. They were then asked to produce identification. (R 4-7,20,22,25-27,54-58) Officer Doemer took possession of the Petitioner's Florida ID card; and it was never returned to the Petitioner during the encounter. (R 45,46,58-60) The officer held the Petitioner's ID card while continuing to interrogate him,⁵ and waited for a response to a radio check for outstanding warrants. During this interrogation, the Petitioner responded to one particular inquiry by saying that he did not have any weapons or drugs on his person.

 $^{^{3}}$ A third officer, (a "K-9" unit, with a police dog) arrived within two minutes, in a separate patrol car, and joined the "field interview." (R 9,12,55-57)

 $^{^{4}}$ Two of the men, (not the Petitioner), complained that the police were "harassing" them. (R 7,12)

⁵ The officer asked the Petitioner "about his life" while holding the Petitioner's ID card, and asked if the Petitioner had ever been arrested. (R 27,28) The officer became "very interested" and "questioned him more" after the Appellant responded to inquiries about his criminal history. (R 28,31)

Approximately two minutes after his ID card was surrendered, after the officer "ran his name" to check for outstanding warrants, the Petitioner stated that he might be the subject of an outstanding warrant. (R 26-30,45-48) When the police dispatch response confirmed an outstanding warrant, the Petitioner was formally arrested and a search of his person was conducted, revealing the contraband at issue. (R 10-15,29,30,48-50,75,76) One of the arresting officers testified that the Petitioner "had no choice" but to consent to a search of his person, as he was a "detainee" - he had been arrested before the search took place. (R 12,13,15,29) The search of the Petitioner's person occurred after the Petitioner had been formally arrested. (R 13-15,30)

Officer Doemer's "suspicion" was initially based on "past knowledge" of drug activity in the area, and because the Petitioner was "alone by himself in a darkened alleyway." (R 39) Officer Doemer became "really suspicious" when the men responded to questioning by saying that they did not live in the area. According to Doemer, that meant that the men "had no reason to be in that area." (R 40,43)

The K- 9 unit which arrived moments after the field interview began, was summoned because the officers anticipated a search of the Petitioner's person. (R 9,12,15,30,55, 57)

5

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner was confronted by officers while he was standing on the street in a public place. He had done nothing to indicate criminal activity was afoot - he was confronted by three armed police officers and a police dog, and was detained for questioning. The officers admitted their investigation was not founded on any objective suspicion of criminal activity. The Petitioner did not agree to answer questions, his ID card was held while he was interrogated in a manner that suggested he was a suspect, and the Petitioner was never advised of his right to refuse initially, or to end the encounter once it had begun. One officer held the Petitioner's license even after the Petitioner responded to the interrogation by stating he was not involved in any criminal activity.

In such circumstances, no reasonable person would feel free to simply walk away from a police officer - an officer who had never sought nor obtained the citizen's consent to submit to interrogation. Nothing about the "encounter" at issue was consensual - it is pure legal and logical fiction to characterize it as such. Moreover, this sort of police/citizen confrontation is not acceptable simply because it is "routine". The Constitution does not permit the police to confront pedestrians, demand proof of identification, and subject them to interrogation absent any founded suspicion of criminal activity, and without first obtaining consent to initiate the "encounter". A finding that consent may be implied under such circumstances ignores the reality of contemporary society, and is contrary to the long-standing presumption that any warrantless seizure the person is presumed unlawful. The Petitioner therefore respectfully submits that the rulings of the trial court and the district court be reversed.

ARGUMENT

IT WAS ERROR TO DENY THE PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS, WHERE THE PETITIONER WAS SUBJECTED TO AN INVESTIGATORY DETENTION ABSENT ANY REASONABLE BELIEF THAT HE WAS INVOLVED IN CRIMINAL ACTIVITY.

In Florida, the scope of the Fourth Amendment's protection against

unreasonable searches and seizures is determined by the decisions of the United

States Supreme Court. Art. I, Section 12 Fla. Const.; Miller v. State, 403 So.

2d 1307,1310,1313 (Fla. 1981)

In defining the line between a mere consensual encounter and a seizure; the

United States Supreme Court has ruled as follows:

To constitute a seizure of the person, just as to constitute an arrest--the quintessential "seizure of the person" under Fourth Amendment jurisprudence-there must be *either* the application of physical force, however slight, *or*, where that is absent, submission to an officer's "show of authority" to restrain the subject's liberty.

California v. Hodari D., 499 U.S. 621 (1991)

In the instant case, the show of authority was as follows: Three uniformed, armed officers, with a police dog, confronted the Petitioner on a public street, in order to find out "what [he was] up to." (R 4,5,24,25) The Petitioner and two men

with him were immediately asked whether they lived in the adjacent apartment house, and what they were doing in the area. The men were then asked to produce identification. Officer Doemer took possession of the Petitioner's ID card, and held it while continuing to interrogate the Petitioner, and while waiting for a response to a radio/computer check for outstanding warrants. The officers involved all testified they had no reason to suspect that the Petitioner or any of the men with him were involved in criminal activity.

The State's position, throughout the trial and appellate phases of this case, has been that the aforesaid facts describe a consensual encounter - that the Petitioner was never seized until a radio check confirmed an outstanding warrant. Therefore, according to the State, no objective, reasonable suspicion was necessary to justify the police action at issue. The Petitioner maintains that upon the aforesaid facts, it is impossible to conclude that the situation in which the Petitioner found himself was consensual. No matter what label the officers might ascribe to the field "interview" at issue, it was conducted over the vocal objection of at least one of the so-called "consenting" individuals - and more important - was carried out in a way that made response to the officer's inquiries appear to be compulsory, not voluntary.

9

For example, the circumstances under which the Petitioner was confronted are not analogous to the operative facts in $Lightbourne^{6}$ - the decision which the majority relied upon in State v. Baez, 2004 WL 2534352 (Fla. 11-10-04). That is, no vehicle was involved here. The Petitioner was not found slumped over the steering wheel of a parked car. The Petitioner was not detained for issuance of a traffic citation. The Petitioner was not trespassing. (R 18) Officer Doemer therefore had no legal authority to require the Petitioner to produce a driver's license. Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 658 (1979) Standing on a street corner is no crime. That activity does not subject citizens to the burden of compliance with traffic regulations, vehicle registration requirements, or driver licensing laws. The Petitioner was required only state his name; but he was not obligated to produce and surrender his ID card. Hibel v. Sixth Judicial Dist. of Nevada, 124 S. Ct. 2451, 2453 (2004)

Officer Doemer was not investigating a citizen's complaint or a suspicious vehicle; he was not "investigating" anything. Officer Doemer, by his own admission, lacked the reasonable suspicion necessary for a Terry⁷ stop. But that is

⁶ Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983)

⁷ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)

precisely what the so-called consensual encounter in this case amounted to, and

that is why the search of the Appellant's person was unlawful: it was the product of

an unlawful detention. Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119 (2000); Florida v. J.

L., 529 So. 2d 266,268 (2000) Therefore, the facts here are more analogous to

those in *Diaz*; another decision cited by this Court in *Baez*. Here as in *Diaz*, there

was no legal basis for any detention:

We note that this case is also not controlled by our recent decision in *State v. Diaz, 850 So.2d 435* (*Fla.2003*). [...] [...] There, we held that based upon the totality of the facts presented, "the law enforcement officer ... had no justification for continuing the restraint of [the] motorist and obtaining information from him after it was clearly determined that no question remained concerning a violation of law or the validity of the car's temporary license plate."

Baez, supra, 2004 WL 2534352, at pg. 2.

In the instant case the "field interview" was initiated absent any reason to believe criminal activity was afoot. The officers, in their own words, wanted to see "what was up." This was a true "fishing expedition." In some circumstances, that sort of police conduct may be constitutionally permissible - but not in the circumstances that prevailed here.

According to the United States Supreme Court, the authority of the police to

stop pedestrians and "request" identification is limited to the context of a legitimate Terry stop. *Hiibel, supra, 124 S. Ct., at 2453*. Here, the Petitioner was unquestionably detained, but not because of a legitimate investigation or upon a reasonable suspicion. And, most important, the detention was not consensual.⁸ That is, the determination as to whether a particular encounter was consensual cannot be not founded upon the subjective opinions of the police or the prosecutor.⁹ An encounter is consensual only when a citizen *agrees* to submit to questioning:

> officers do not violate the Fourth Amendment by merely *approaching an individual on the street or in another public place, by asking him if he is willing to answer some questions, by putting questions to him if the person is willing to listen* [.] (Emphasis added.)

Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429,434 (1991)

The Petitioner was not asked if he would agree to answer questions; nor did he ever express any such agreement. He was confronted by three uniformed officers and a police dog, was "asked" to explain his presence in the area, and was

 $^{^{8}}$ Indeed, one of the men protested that the officers were harassing them for no good reason. (R 7,12)

⁹ United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, at 555, n.6 (1980)

then "asked" to supply documentation of his identity. He was interrogated about his criminal history while his ID card was being held. The identification he supplied, and his answers to interrogation, were sought and obtained in anticipation of the Petitioner's arrest, and the subsequent search of his person. (R 9,12,15,30,55,57) The best evidence of the *non*-consensual nature of this "field interview" is seen in the fact that the detention did not end - the Petitioner's ID card was not returned - even after the Petitioner said he was not carrying weapons or drugs on his person. (R 27,46) Indeed, the Petitioner was detained, (his ID card was being held), even after the Petitioner stated he was not subject to any open warrants. (R 46,48) No reasonable person would feel free to simply walk away under such circumstances, unless he had first been expressly advised that compliance was not mandatory:

> The State proffers three reasons for holding that when Royer consented to the search of his luggage, he was not being illegally detained. *First, it is submitted that the entire encounter was consensual and hence Royer was not being held against his will at all. We find this submission untenable*. Asking for and examining Royer's ticket and his driver's license were no doubt permissible in themselves, but *when the officers identified themselves as narcotics agents, told Royer that he was suspected of transporting narcotics, and asked him to accompany them to the police room, while retaining his ticket and driver's*

license and without indicating in any way that he was free to depart, Royer was effectively seized for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment. These circumstances surely amount to a show of official authority such that "a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave." (Emphasis added.)

Royer, supra, 460 U.S., at 501-502.

Like Royer, the Petitioner did not agree to answer questions, his ID card was held while he was interrogated in a manner that suggested he was a suspect, there was a significant show of authority, and the Petitioner was never advised of his right to refuse initially, or to end the encounter once it had begun. The officer held the Petitioner's license even after the Petitioner stated he was not involved in any criminal activity. Viewed objectively, these facts show that the only thing "communicated" to the Petitioner was that he was not free to end the encounter an walk away:

> As we have explained, *no seizure occurs* when police ask questions of an individual, ask to *examine the individual's identification*, and request consent to search his or her luggage--so long as the officers do not convey a message that compliance with their requests is required. Here, the facts recited by the Florida Supreme Court indicate that the officers did not point guns at Bostick or otherwise threaten him and that they specifically advised Bostick that he could refuse consent. (Emphasis added.)

Bostick, supra, 501 U.S., at 437.

Officer Doemer did not advise the Petitioner that he was free to leave,¹⁰ nor did he "examine" the Petitioner's ID card and then return it. The officer seized the ID card, which is a crucial distinction. There was no initial consent to the questioning - the Petitioner surrendered his ID card in response to interrogation, and in the context of an intimidating show of authority.¹¹ Once he relinquished his ID card, and was questioned as to his criminal history even after he had said he was not carrying drugs or weapons, any semblance of a consensual encounter vanished entirely:

> After *returning the ticket and driver's license to her*, one of the agents asked respondent if she would accompany him to the airport DEA office for further

¹¹ The petitioner said that he turned over his ID card because he felt he had no choice, given the presence of three officers and a dog. (R 55,58,59) While the Petitioner's subjective impression is not dispositive, it comports with the record evidence in this case that suggests there was a "threatening presence of several officers;" one form of objective evidence of a seizure, as stated in *Mendenhall*.

¹⁰ The Petitioner does not suggest that express advice as to the right of refusal is a pre-requisite to a finding that an encounter was consensual. Such advice is but one factor to be considered. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218,248,249 (1973)* But here, none of the indicia of true consent were present; and, "where the validity of a search rests on consent, the State has the burden of proving that the necessary consent was obtained and that it was freely and voluntarily given, a burden that is not satisfied by showing a mere submission to a claim of lawful authority." *Royer, supra, 460 U.S., at 497*.

questions, and respondent did so. [...]

Examples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure, even where the person did not attempt to leave, would be *the threatening presence of several officers*, the *display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that*

compliance with the officer's request might be compelled. (Citations omitted, emphasis added)

Mendenhall, supra, 446 U.S., at 548,554.

In U.S. v. Mendenhall, the officers returned Mendenhall's ticket and license

before asking her to accompany them to an office. She was specifically told that

she had the right to refuse the search, and she twice consented to the search. Id. at

548. None of those indicia of a consensual encounter were present here. Indeed,

the facts here suggest nothing but coercion.

The Petitioner respectfully disputes the majority's legal conclusion as expressed in *Baez* and *Lightbourne*, that the Fourth Amendment is not implicated by field interrogations such as this, because this sort of encounter is "routine" police practice.¹² The abuses of the king's men in the colonies were no doubt

¹² According to this Court, "the average, reasonable citizen [...] would not find the officer's actions unduly harsh." *Lightbourne, 438 So. 2d at 387,388*; *Baez, pg. 2.* There is evidence in the instant case which refutes the Court's assumption: Several men walked away in order to avoid confrontation, and of those

routine; but their offensiveness was not lessened by repetition. Rather, the routine practice of warrantless searches and seizures fomented revolution, and gave impetus to the drafting of the Constitution - the same document which is not even implicated, according to this Court, when police officers randomly detain and interrogate citizens in the admitted absence of any reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot. The Petitioner submits that the Fourth Amendment is squarely implicated when the law purports to grant such sweeping police powers. Indeed, as Chief Justice Pariente noted in the *Baez* dissenting opinion, it is pure "fiction," and a "charade," to conclude that "encounters" like the one in this case are consensual:

In a Fourth District decision following *Baez*, which he authored, Judge Klein elaborated on his reasoning as to why a police officer's retention of a driver's license turns a consensual encounter into a detention for Fourth Amendment purposes: I, for one, despite my law school education, had no idea there was such a thing as a consensual encounter until I became a judge. *Because police officers are, in our society, charged with maintaining order and enforcing the law, it would never have occurred to me that I could insist on the return of my license before the officer was finished with it. Nor would it*

who remained, two complained of police harassment. It should not be inferred from the Petitioner's silence and submission, that he or any other reasonable person would "not find the officer's actions unduly harsh."

occur to any other person unversed in search and seizure law. As Professor LaFave has written, "[i]t is nothing more than fiction to say that all of these subjects have consented to the confrontation." [...] In addition to the cases we relied on in *Baez*, appellant has cited several recent cases from other states in which the courts have refused to go along with this charade. [...]:

'Without his identification, Daniel was effectively immobilized. Abandoning one's identification is simply not a practical or realistic option for a reasonable person in modern society. [...] Contary to the State's assertion, when an officer retains a person's identification for the purpose of running a computer check for outstanding warrants, no reasonable person would believe that he or she could simply terminate the encounter by asking the officer to return the identification.' [...] (Citations omitted, emphasis added.)

State v. Baez, 2004 WL 2534352, pp. 7-8 (Fla. 11-10-04)

The Petitioner was not driving a car. He was simply standing on the street in a public place. He had done nothing to indicate criminal activity was afoot - he was simply detained in order for Officer Doemer to investigate an unfounded suspicion about "what was up." The arresting officers admitted their investigation was not founded on any objective suspicion of criminal activity. Therefore, by adhering to the legal fiction that such confrontations are acceptable because they are "routine," the courts participate, albeit unwittingly, in the erosion of civil liberties:

I concur in the majority decision. Law enforcement has a vital need to engage citizens on the street and to conduct field interrogations. Citizens should be encouraged to cooperate with such encounters. The methods demonstrated in this case, however, by which an initial encounter subtly evolves into an oral cavity search, serve to discourage reasonable, lawabiding citizens from cooperating during a field interrogation. Neither the Fourth Amendment nor the policies of neighborhood policing should authorize this method. *I am inclined to believe that our case* law explaining consensual encounters is unintentionally expanding the parameters of these encounters beyond the "minimal police contact" authorized by the supreme court in Popple v. State, 626 So.2d 185, 186 (Fla.1993). (Emphasis added.)

Smith v. State, 753 So.2d 713,716 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000)

The United States Supreme Court, in striking Jacksonville's vagrancy

ordinance, recognized that the Constitution is offended by any routine police

practice which allows police officers, on a whim, to interfere with the freedom of all

citizens to simply walk the streets:

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