IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LORENZO GOLPHIN,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: SC03-554

STATE OF FLORIDA,

DCA case no.: 5D02-1848

Respondent.

/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #618550

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 FIFTH FLOOR 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990/FAX 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before this Court is whether a consensual encounter between law enforcement and a person is elevated to a seizure when the person voluntarily provides identification upon the officer's request and a computer check is run on that identification. It is the State's position that the facts of

this cases show a consensual citizen encounter with law enforcement.

ARGUMENT

POINT OF LAW

WHETHER A CONSENSUAL ENCOUNTER BETWEEN LAW ENFORCEMENT AND A PERSON IS ELEVATED TO A SEIZURE WHEN THE PERSON VOLUNTARILY PROVIDES IDENTIFICATION UPON THE OFFICER'S REQUEST AND A COMPUTER CHECK IS RUN ON THAT IDENTIFICATION.

Petitioner's position seems to be that routine encounters with law enforcement are restricted by the Fourth Amendment. Additionally, Petitioner submits that asking someone for his identification during a consensual encounter elevates the exchange to a stop and seizure requiring a reasonable suspicion. The State disagrees with both of these points.

However, before addressing the merits of Petitioner's claim, the State would submit to this Court that jurisdiction no longer should exists in this Court. The Fifth District Court expressly recognized conflict with <u>Baez v. State</u>, 814 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). It was based upon this conflict that Petitioner invoked this Court's jurisdiction, but this Court recently quashed the opinion from the Fourth District Court of Appeal. <u>State v. Baez</u>, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S663 (Fla. Nov. 10, 2004). On January 5, 2005, the motion for rehearing was denied, and mandate is scheduled to be issued on January 21, 2005.

б

Therefore, given that there is no longer conflict between the opinions, it is the State's position that this Court should find that no jurisdiction exists.

If this Court finds it still does have jurisdiction, this is a review of a motion to suppress. This Court has clearly set out that a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress comes to the appellate court clothed with a presumption of correctness, and the reviewing court must interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling. <u>See Pagan v. State</u>, 830 So. 2d 792, 806 (Fla. 2002). The reviewing court is bound by the trial court's factual findings if they are supported by competent, substantial evidence. <u>Id</u>. However, a trial court's determination of the legal issue of probable cause is subject to the *de novo* standard of review. <u>See Ornelas v. United States</u>, 517 U.S. 690 (1996); <u>Connor v.</u> <u>State</u>, 803 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 2001).

The trial court expressly found in this case that the evidence showed that the encounter was consensual. Specifically, at the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court summarized its findings:

> And the question here is under the totality of the circumstances was there a show of police authority to the extent that a reasonable person would not feel

free to not engage the police officers and basically turn around and walk away. And the Court finds that that is not the case.

The Court does not find a - based upon the totality of the circumstances a show of police authority that would cause a reasonable person to believe that he was not free to walk away. And in fact the credible testimony is that this was a casual encounter where casual conversation occurred, I.D. was produced, a warrants check run, warrant came back, defendant arrested, and a search incident to arrest occurring.

So the long and short of all this is I find this to be a consensual encounter and find that the motion to suppress should be denied. ...

(R 97) (emphasis added).

. . .

Case law holds that an officer does not violate the Fourth Amendment by approaching a person on the street and asking questions or even asking for identification. <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 31-33 (1968).² <u>Id</u>. at 31-33. The Court wrote that "there is nothing in the Constitution which prevents a policeman from addressing questions to anyone on the streets." <u>Id</u>. at 34.

The United States Supreme Court also has held that a person is seized only when physical force or a show of authority restricts his freedom of movement. See U.S. v. Mendenhall, 446

²By reason of the 1982 amendment to article I, section 12 of the Florida Constitution, this Court is bound to follow United States Supreme Court precedent on the Fourth Amendment. <u>Bernie</u>

U.S. 544 (1980). In <u>Mendenhall</u>, the Court held that a defendant was not seized when the officers, based on a profile, encountered the defendant on a concourse, asked to look at her license and ticket, and upon returning these items, asked the defendant to accompany them to an office upstairs in the airport where they asked for permission to search her person. The Court wrote

> [A]s long as the person to whom questions are put remains free to disregard the questions and walk away, there has been no intrusion upon that person's liberty or privacy as would under the Constitution require some particularized and objective justification.

> Moreover, characterizing every street encounter between a citizen and the police as a 'seizure,' while not enhancing any interest secured by the Fourth Amendment, would impose wholly unrealistic restrictions upon a wise variety of legitimate law enforcement practices. The Court has on other occasions referred to the acknowledged need for police questioning as a tool in effective enforcement of the criminal 'Without such investigation, those laws. who were innocent might be falsely accused, those who were guilty might wholly escape prosecution, and many crimes would go unsolved. In short, the security of all would be diminished.

Id. at 554.

v. State, 524 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1988).

Clearly, the officers³ could approach Petitioner and ask him questions without any constitutional violation occurring. The officers stated that everyone was free to leave, and in fact, some did upon the officers approach without being stopped or hindered. (R 5). The testimony was that the encounter involved "casual conversation" between the officers and those there. Petitioner was described as "very polite" and "very cooperative." (R 28). While Petitioner seems to attempt to characterize the encounter as a non-consensual stop at its inception, there are no facts to support such a claim.⁴ In fact, there is no evidence of any facts occurring during this encounter which would induce a reasonable person to believe he was not free to leave or that he was confined. Therefore, the question becomes whether the officer asking Petitioner for his identification and running a background check on that

³Interestingly, it is written in the initial brief that three officers with a police dog confronted Petitioner; however, such facts are not found in the record portions cited. Instead, Officer Doemer testified that a third officer - Officer Eisen - arrived after she had approached Petitioner and perhaps even after the open warrant was discovered. (R 29-30).

⁴Petitioner submits that the United States Supreme Court has held that "the authority of the police to stop pedestrians and 'request' identification is limited to the context of a legitimate <u>Terry</u> stop." (Initial brief at pp. 11-12). Petitioner cites the syllabus in <u>Hiibel v. Sixth Judicial</u> <u>District Court of Nevada</u>, 124 S. Ct. 2451, at 2453 (2004), for this position. Later in the initial brief, Petitioner takes express exception to this Court's rulings in <u>State v. Baez</u>, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S663 (Fla. Nov. 10, 2004); and Lightbourne v.

information somehow enhances the encounter to a stop.

The United States Supreme Court has held that "[I]nterrogation relating to one's identity or a request for identification by the police does not, by itself, constitute a Fourth Amendment seizure." <u>I.N.S. v. Delgado</u>, 466 U.S. 210, 216 (1984). In fact, the Court found that I.N.S. agents could individually approach workers in a factory and ask for proof of residency and citizenship without implicating the Fourth Amendment even though factory workers would have to walk away from the inspecting officers and past two more officers standing at the door of the factory in order to leave. Id. at 217-218.

<u>Delgado</u> was followed in <u>Florida v. Bostick</u>, 501 U.S. 429 (1991), in which the Court rejected a *per se* rule finding a stop under facts where police approached an individual on a bus who they have no suspicion of having committed a crime, asked him questions, asked to examine his identification, and asked to search his luggage. Such conduct would be legal so long as mandatory compliance with these requests was not conveyed to a reasonable person by the officers' actions.

This Court in <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983), upheld the checking of the defendant's license as not in violation of the Fourth Amendment, even though it was not

State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983). (Initial brief at page 16).

contended that the officer had reasonable suspicion to believe an offense had been committed. This Court wrote:

> Officer McGowan simply approached the parked car, asked defendant a few simple questions as the reason for his presence there, his current address, and then ran a routine check on defendant's car and identification. Surely the average, reasonable person, under similar circumstances, would not find the officer's actions unduly harsh. There is nothing in the record that would indicate that prior to defendant voluntarily relinguishing his driver's license to Officer McGowan he was not free to express an alternative wish to go on his way.

438 So. 2d at 387-388. (emphasis supplied).

Of course, such facts are very similar to those in the instant case. Officers approached Petitioner, asked him if he lived there or was visiting friends, and then asked for any identification. The facts support and the trial court found that Petitioner voluntarily relinquished his identification, and upon running a routine check, an outstanding warrant for his arrest was found.

Lightbourne was expressly followed in this Court's recent case of <u>Baez</u>. The <u>Baez</u> holding in the Fourth District Court's opinion was the case which was discussed and rejected by the trial court at the suppression hearing in the instant case. <u>See</u> Baez v. State, 814 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); see also (R

80-97). The State pointed out that <u>Baez</u> was in conflict with <u>Lightbourne</u>, and the trial court agreed. Justice Wells wrote in a concurrence in Baez joined by Justice Bell:

What can be reasonably concluded in this case is that this law enforcement officer followed routine police procedure. After Baez voluntarily exited his car, the law enforcement officer asked for identification. Baez gave the officer his driver's license. Certainly, the officer could do the computer check of the information Baez gave the officer. Unless Baez raised some objection or the check took an unreasonable length of time, which did not happen, there was nothing which converted this consensual encounter and routine law enforcement procedure into a seizure.

•••

Certainly, under the circumstances of the present case, in which Baez consensually gave his identification to the law enforcement officer, the officer could perform a computer check on Baez's license.

(emphasis added).

Of course, the above facts are very similar to the instant case. The evidence showed that two officers engaged in a casual conversation with Petitioner during which he was asked for some identification. The trial court found Petitioner voluntarily gave the identification to the officer, the officer said that Petitioner could have refused the request and was free to leave,

a computer check was run,⁵ and an outstanding warrant was discovered. Based upon this information which was verified, Petitioner was arrested.

Lastly, the State would again submit that the initial conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal has been recently eliminated by this Court's quashing of that opinion. Therefore, there is no longer a need to resolve conflict; however, if this Court does retain jurisdiction, the State would request that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal be affirmed.

⁵No argument has ever been made as to any unreasonable delay of time relating to the computer check.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented above, the State respectfully prays this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.